
The following is the text of a report set out on pages I-1 to [I-49], received from the

Company’s reporting accountants, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, Certified Public Accountants,

Hong Kong, for the purpose of incorporation in this document.

ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT ON HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION TO THE
DIRECTORS OF AB&B BIO-TECH CO., LTD. JS*, CITIC SECURITIES (HONG
KONG) LIMITED AND CMB INTERNATIONAL CAPITAL LIMITED

Introduction

We report on the historical financial information of Ab&B Bio-Tech Co., Ltd. JS (“江蘇
中慧元通生物科技股份有限公司”) (the “Company”) and its subsidiary (together, the “Group”)

set out on pages I-3 to I-49, which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position

of the Group as at December 31, 2023, the statement of financial position of the Company as

at December 31, 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated

statement of cash flows of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2023 (the “Track Record

Period”) and material accounting policy information and other explanatory information

(together, the “Historical Financial Information”). The Historical Financial Information set out

on pages I-3 to I-49 forms an integral part of this report, which has been prepared for inclusion

in the document of the Company dated January 23, 2025 (the “Document”) in connection with

the initial listing of shares of the Company on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong

Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Directors’ responsibility for the Historical Financial Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the Historical

Financial Information that gives a true and fair view in accordance with the basis of preparation

set out in Note 2 to the Historical Financial Information, and for such internal control as the

directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the Historical

Financial Information that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Reporting accountants’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Historical Financial Information and to

report our opinion to you. We conducted our work in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on

Investment Circular Reporting Engagements 200 “Accountants’ Reports on Historical

Financial Information in Investment Circulars” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified

Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”). This standard requires that we comply with ethical

standards and plan and perform our work to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the

Historical Financial Information is free from material misstatement.
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Our work involved performing procedures to obtain evidence about the amounts and

disclosures in the Historical Financial Information. The procedures selected depend on the

reporting accountants’ judgement, including the assessment of risks of material misstatement

of the Historical Financial Information, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk

assessments, the reporting accountants consider internal control relevant to the entity’s

preparation of the Historical Financial Information that gives a true and fair view in accordance

with the basis of preparation set out in Note 2 to the Historical Financial Information in order

to design procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Our work also

included evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of

accounting estimates made by the directors of the Company, as well as evaluating the overall

presentation of the Historical Financial Information.

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a

basis for our opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the Historical Financial Information gives, for the purposes of the

accountants’ report, a true and fair view of the Group’s and the Company’s financial position

as at December 31, 2023 and of the Group’s financial performance and cash flows for the Track

Record Period in accordance with the basis of preparation set out in Note 2 to the Historical

Financial Information.

Report on matters under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange and the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance

Adjustments

In preparing the Historical Financial Information, no adjustments to the Underlying

Financial Statements as defined on page I-3 have been made.

Dividends

We refer to Note 15 to the Historical Financial Information which states that no dividend

was declared or paid by the Company in respect of the Track Record Period.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

January 23, 2025

* English name is for identification purpose only
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HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

Preparation of Historical Financial Information

Set out below is the Historical Financial Information which forms an integral part of this

accountants’ report.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Track Record Period, on which

the Historical Financial Information is based, have been prepared in accordance with the

accounting policies which conform with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)

issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and were audited by us

in accordance with International Standards on Auditing issued by the International Auditing

and Assurance Standards Board (“Underlying Financial Statements”).

The Historical Financial Information is presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values

are rounded to the nearest thousand (RMB’000) except when otherwise indicated.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Notes

Year ended
December 31,

2023

RMB’000

Revenue � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 6 52,168
Cost of sales � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (72,511)

Gross loss � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (20,343)
Other income� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 8 14,202
Impairment losses under expected credit loss model, net of

reversal � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (48)
Other gains and losses � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 9 1,312
Selling expenses � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (55,433)
Administrative expenses � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (74,663)
Research and development expenses � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (283,159)
Finance costs � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 10 (6,609)

Loss before tax� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 11 (424,741)
Income tax expense � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 12 –

Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year � � � � � � � � (424,741)

Loss per share
– Basic and diluted (RMB) � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 14 (1.18)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Notes

As at
December 31,

2023

RMB’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 16 740,782
Right-of-use assets � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 17 94,476
Intangible assets� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 18 26,844
Other receivables and prepayments � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 23 44,396

906,498

Current assets
Inventories � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 21 41,818
Trade receivables � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 22 73,595
Other receivables and prepayments � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 23 14,772
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

(“FVTPL”) � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 24 10,020
Pledged bank deposits � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 25 5,486
Time deposits� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 25 22,236
Cash and cash equivalents � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 25 45,318

213,245

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 26 291,550
Refund liabilities � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 27 13,259
Borrowings � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 28 217,887
Lease liabilities � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 29 6,467

529,163

Net current liabilities� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (315,918)

Total assets less current liabilities� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 590,580

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 28 148,262
Lease liabilities � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 29 48,808
Deferred income � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 30 30,240

227,310

Net assets � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 363,270

Capital and reserves
Share capital � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 32 360,000
Reserves � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 3,270

Total equity � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 363,270
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Notes

As at
December 31,

2023

RMB’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 16 689,902
Right-of-use assets � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 17 44,926
Intangible assets� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 18 26,844
Investment in a subsidiary � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 93,838
Other receivables and prepayments � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 23 42,004

897,514

Current assets
Inventories � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 21 39,120
Trade receivables � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 22 73,595
Other receivables and prepayments � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 23 96,050
Financial assets at FVTPL � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 24 10,020
Pledged bank deposits � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 25 5,486
Time deposits� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 25 22,236
Cash and cash equivalents � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 25 41,407

287,914

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 26 251,609
Refund liabilities � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 27 13,259
Borrowings � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 28 212,897

477,765

Net current liabilities� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (189,851)

Total assets less current liabilities� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 707,663

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 28 148,262
Deferred income � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 30 30,240

178,502

Net assets � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 529,161

Capital and reserves
Share capital � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 32 360,000
Reserves � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 33 169,161

Total equity � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 529,161
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Share capital
Share

premium

Share-based
payments

reserve
Accumulated

losses Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note 32) (Note 31)

As at January 1, 2023 � � � � � � � 360,000 614,930 50,172 (285,618) 739,484
Loss and total comprehensive

expense for the year � � � � � � � � – – – (424,741) (424,741)
Recognition of equity-settled share-

based payments (Note 31)� � � � � – – 48,527 – 48,527

As at December 31, 2023 � � � � � � 360,000 614,930 98,699 (710,359) 363,270
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended
December 31,

2023

RMB’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (424,741)
Adjustments for:

Finance costs � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 6,609
Interest income � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (3,158)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 39,378
Depreciation of right-of-use assets � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 7,559
Amortisation of intangible assets � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 1,039
Impairment losses under expected credit loss, net of reversal� � � � � � � � � 48
Income from government grants � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (509)
Write down of inventories, net of reversal � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 45,698
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 40
Gain from changes in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL � � � � � � � � (1,352)
Recognition of equity-settled share-based payments � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 47,915

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital� � � � � � � � � � � � (281,474)
Increase in inventories� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (67,653)
Increase in trade receivables � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (73,643)
Decrease in other receivables and prepayments � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (11,759)
Increase in trade and other payables � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 115,282
Increase in refund liabilities � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 13,259

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (305,988)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Receipt of interest from banks� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 2,475
Purchases of financial assets measured at FVTPL � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (430,600)
Redemption of financial assets at FVTPL � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 632,089
Purchases of property, plant and equipment � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (265,297)
Payments for right-for-use assets � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (9,290)
Receipt of government grants � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 1,000
Payments for rental deposits � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (1,095)
Purchases of intangible assets � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (16,590)
Placement of pledged bank deposits � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (43,994)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 90,796
Placement of time deposits with maturity of more than three month � � � � � (50,000)
Withdrawal of time deposits with maturity of more than three month � � � � 90,000

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (506)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from bank borrowings� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 380,883
Repayments of bank borrowings � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (34,000)
Interest paid � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (6,830)
Payments of lease liabilities � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (4,887)

NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 335,166

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS � � � � � � � � � � � 28,672

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 16,646
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 45,318
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NOTES TO THE HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Ab&B Bio-Tech Co., Ltd. JS (“the Company”) was founded on October 28, 2015, when the Company was
founded by Mr. An Youcai (“Mr. An”), the controlling shareholder, in Taizhou as a limited liability company under
the laws of the People’s Republic of the China (the “PRC”). On February 22, 2022, the Company was converted to
a joint stock company with limited liability under the Company Law of the PRC. The addresses of the registered
office and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the section headed “Corporate Information”
in the Document.

The Group is principally engaged in the research and development, manufacturing and commercialisation of
vaccine products for human use. Particulars and principal activities of the subsidiary are disclosed in Note 39.

The Historical Financial Information is presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is also the functional currency
of the Company.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The Historical Financial Information has been prepared based on the accounting policies set out in Note 4
which conform with IFRSs issued by the IASB.

As at December 31, 2023, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by RMB315,918,000. After
taking into account of the Group’s cash flow projection, expected working capital requirements and the financing
plans, the directors of the Company are satisfied that the Group is able to have sufficient working capital to finance
its operations and to meet its financial obligations for twelve months after December 31, 2023 and it is appropriate
to prepare Historical Financial Information on a going concern basis.

The statutory financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2023 were prepared in
accordance with Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises of the PRC and were audited by 容誠會計師事務所
(特殊普通合夥)/RSM China Certified Public Accountants LLP*, a certified public accountant registered in the PRC.

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO IFRSs

For the purpose of preparing and presenting the Historical Financial Information for the Track Record Period,
the Group has consistently applied the accounting policies which conform with IFRSs, which are effective for the
Group’s accounting period beginning on January 1, 2024, throughout the Track Record Period.

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to IFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective:

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 � � � � � Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of
Financial Instruments3

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 � � � � � Contracts Referencing Nature dependent Electricity3

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 � � � � Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture1

Amendments to IFRS Accounting
Standards � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards –
Volume 113

Amendments to IAS 21 � � � � � � � � � � � � Lack of Exchangeability2

IFRS 18 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements4

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2025.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2026.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2027.

* English name is for identification purpose only
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Except for the new and amendments to IFRSs mentioned below, the directors of the Company anticipate that
the application of all other new and amendments to IFRSs will have no material impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in the foreseeable future.

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements, which sets out requirements on presentation and
disclosures in financial statements, will replace IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. This new IFRS
Accounting Standard, while carrying forward many of the requirements in IAS 1, introduces new requirements to
present specified categories and defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in the notes to the financial statements and improve aggregation and
disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the financial statements. In addition, some IAS 1 paragraphs have
been moved to IAS 8 and IFRS 7. Minor amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IAS 33 Earnings per
Share are also made.

IFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after January
1, 2027, with early application permitted. The application of the new standard is expected to affect the presentation
of the statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the future financial statements, but no impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance.

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

The Historical Financial Information has been prepared in accordance with the following accounting policies
which conform with IFRSs issued by the IASB. For the purpose of preparation of the Historical Financial
Information, information is considered material if such information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the Historical Financial Information includes the applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Basis of consolidation

The Historical Financial Information incorporates the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

• has power over the investee;

• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of the subsidiary to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Investment in a subsidiary

Investment in a subsidiary is included in the statement of financial position of the Company at cost less any
identified impairment losses.
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Revenue from contracts with customers

Information about the Group’s accounting policies relating to revenue from contracts with customers is
provided in Notes 6 and 27.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition under IFRS 16 at inception
of the contract. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases of equipment and staff quarters that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease
payments on short-term leases are recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

• the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability; and

• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under IFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use
assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognizes and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not
readily determinable.

The lease payments are fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognized until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognized in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognizes as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government
grants whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets
are recognized as deferred income in the consolidated statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss
on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are
recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such grants are presented under “other
income”.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

The Group participates in state-managed retirement benefit schemes, which are defined contribution schemes,
pursuant to which the Group pays a fixed percentage of its staff’s wages as contributions to the plans. Payments to
such retirement benefit schemes are recognized as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them
to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognized at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are recognized as an expense unless
another IFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognized for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick
leave) after deducting any amount already paid.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Restricted Shares granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the
fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined at the grant date without taking into
consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on
the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity
(share-based payments reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of
equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact
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of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognized in the profit or loss such that the cumulative expense
reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share-based payments reserve. For shares that
vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the shares granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When shares granted are vested, the amount previously recognized in share-based payments reserve will be
transferred to share premium.

Restricted Shares granted to non-employees

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured at the fair
value of the goods or services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they
are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the entity obtains the goods
or the counterparty renders the service. The fair values of the goods or services received are recognized as expenses
(unless the goods or services qualify for recognition as assets).

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from loss before tax
because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the Historical Financial Information and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognized for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognized if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit
and at the time of the transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognized if the temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in the
subsidiary, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investment is only recognized to the extent that it is probable that there
will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilize the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which
the liability is settled or the asset is realized, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in which the Group recognizes the
right-of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax deductions are
attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
IAS 12 requirements to the lease liabilities and the related assets separately. The Group recognizes a deferred tax
asset related to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary difference can be utilized and a deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary differences.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the same
taxation authority.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes (other than construction in progress as described below). Property, plant and
equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties and equipment in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes are
carried at cost, less any recognized impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset
to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management,
including costs of testing whether the related assets is functioning properly and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs
capitalized in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of properties which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement of
financial position. When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease building element and
undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.

Depreciation is recognized so as to write off the cost of assets other than property, plant and equipment in the
course of construction less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of the reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and an item of the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognized in profit or loss.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at costs less accumulated
amortization and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortization for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
recognized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortization
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted
for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost
less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Internally-generated intangible assets—research and development expenditure

The Group incurs significant costs and efforts on research and development activities, which include
expenditures on vaccine products. Expenditure on research activities is recognized as an expense in the period in
which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development activities (or from the development phase
of an internal project) is recognized if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

• the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

• the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

• the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
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• how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;

• the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to
use or sell the intangible asset; and

• the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.

The amount initially recognized for internally-generated intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-
generated intangible asset can be recognized, development expenditure is recognized in profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated
amortization and accumulated impairment losses (if any), on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets
not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that may be
impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets are
estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating
unit when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to the
smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units to which the
corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a
cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units, including the
carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-generating
units, with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated to the assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit
or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair
value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset (or a
cash-generating unit or the group of cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognized immediately in profit or loss.
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Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated statement of financial position include:

• cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject
to regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no longer meeting the definition of cash; and

• cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally with original maturity of three months or
less), highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting
short-term cash commitments rather than for investment or other purposes.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Costs of inventories are determined on a
weighted average method. Net realizable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognized and derecognized
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially measured in accordance with IFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from the fair value
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognized immediately in profit
or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

• the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognized using the effective interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired
(see below). For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is recognized
by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting period.
If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognized by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period following the determination that the
asset is no longer credit-impaired.

(ii) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognized in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognized in profit or loss includes any
interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the “other gains and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets
(including trade receivables, other receivables, pledged bank deposits, time deposits and cash and cash equivalents)
which are subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected
to result from default events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments are done based
on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognizes lifetime ECL for trade receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group recognizes lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognized is based on significant increases in the likelihood or
risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of
a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available)
or internal credit rating;

• significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in
the credit spread;

• existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;
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• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;

• an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due,
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii)
the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and (iii)
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument
to have low credit risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally
understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

(ii) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that
a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of default that have a detrimental impact
on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization;
or

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off may
still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognized in profit or loss.
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(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data and forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL
reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables are considered on a collective basis taking into consideration internal
credit rating information and relevant credit information such as forward looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

• Past-due status;

• Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

• External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents of each group continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

The Group recognizes an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables and other receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognized through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognizes a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognized in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognized at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including borrowings and trade and other payables are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognizes financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognized and the
consideration paid and payable is recognized in profit or loss.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net amount presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the
recognized amounts; and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 4, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below), that the
directors of the Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the Historical Financial Information.

Research and development expenses

Development expenses incurred on the Group’s vaccine product pipelines are capitalised and deferred only
when the Group could demonstrate (i) the technical feasibility of completing the development of the relevant
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale; (ii) the Group’s intention to complete and the Group’s
ability to use or sell the asset; (iii) the ability to use or sell the intangible asset; (iv) how the asset will generate future
economic benefits; (v) the availability of resources to complete the pipeline; and (vi) the ability to measure reliably
the expenditure during the development. Development expenses which do not meet these criteria are expensed when
incurred. Management assesses the progress of each of the research and development projects and determine whether
the criteria are met for capitalisation. During the Track Record Period, research and development expenses on
research activities are recognized as expense in which it is incurred.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the coming twelve months.
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Provision of ECL for trade receivables

Trade receivables are assessed to ECL collectively. In estimating ECL on trade receivables, the Group uses the
provision rates which are based on external credit ratings and an assessment of both the current as well as the
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort at the end of each year.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about the ECL and the Group’s
trade receivables are disclosed in Notes 22 and 35.

Estimation of refund liabilities

The Group recognizes a refund liability if the Group expects it would not be entitled to consideration of all
goods delivered arising from the rights granted by the Group to the customers to return some or all the goods
purchased. Upon revenue recognition, the Group estimates the future sales return of the goods sold and a
corresponding adjustment to revenue is recognized for those products expected to be returned. The estimation of sales
return requires the use of judgment and estimates. When determining the sales return of the goods sold, the Company
considers various factors, including but not limited to market data and impact of seasonal effect for the products.
Where the actual return rate is different from the original estimate, such difference will be trued up in subsequent
periods. As at December 31, 2023, the Group recognized a refund liability of approximately RMB13,259,000.

Allowance for inventories

The Group reviews the carrying amount of inventories at each balance sheet date to determine whether the
inventories are carried at the lower of cost and realizable value. In estimating the net realizable value of inventories,
the Group takes into account the expire dates of the inventories and the estimation on future demand for the vaccine
products to reflect the best estimation of the net realizable value of inventories as at 31 December 2023. When
preparing the forecast of future demand for vaccine products, the Group makes reference to the current relevant
vaccination policies, estimates the expected vaccination of population, and considers possible technological iterations
and future uncertainties of the relevant demand. The abovesaid assumptions involves management estimates and
judgements, and also with uncertainty. Changing the assumptions and estimates, could affect the net realizable value
and a reversal or further recognition of write-down may arise and be recognized in profit or loss of future periods.

As at December 31, 2023, the carrying amounts of inventories was RMB41,818,000 (net of write downs of
RMB45,698,000).

Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets are stated at costs less accumulated
depreciation/amortization and impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to
exercise judgement and make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or any
indicators that may affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the
recoverable amount, in the case of value in use, the net present value of future cash flows which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating the
recoverable amounts including cash flow projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset (including right-of-use assets), the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the assets belongs, including allocation of corporate assets
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established, otherwise recoverable amount is determined
at the smallest group of cash-generating units, for which the relevant corporate assets have been allocated. Changing
the assumptions and estimates, including the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow projections, could
materially affect recoverable amounts.

During the Track Record Period, the management of the Group assessed whether an event, has occurred or any
indicators that may affect the asset value. The management concluded that the recoverable amounts of the related
assets were higher than the carrying amounts, thus no impairment loss has been recognized on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets.
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6. REVENUE

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with the customers:

Year ended
December 31, 2023

RMB’000

Type of goods
Sales of vaccine products � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 52,168

Geographical market
Mainland China � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 52,168

Timing of revenue recognition
At a point in time � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 52,168

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with customers and revenue recognition policies.

Revenue from the sales of vaccine products is recognized when control of the vaccine products has transferred,
being when the goods have been shipped to the specific location and accepted by customers. The normal credit term
is mainly 6 to 9 months upon delivery.

At the point of sale, a refund liability and a corresponding adjustment to revenue are made for those products
expected to be returned. The Group estimates the future sales return of the products sold based on various factors,
including but not limited to market data and impact of seasonal effect of the products. The Group’s right to recover
the product when customers exercise their right is recognized as a right to returned goods asset and a corresponding
adjustment to cost of sale.

(iii) Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligation for contracts with customers.

All the contracts are for periods of one year or less. As the Group applies the practical expedient in IFRS 15,
the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

7. SEGMENTS INFORMATION

For the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance, the chief operating decision
maker (“CODM”), which is also identified as the chief executive officer of the Group, reviews the overall results and
financial position of the Group as a whole which are prepared based on the same accounting policies as set out in
Note 4. Accordingly, the Group has only one single operating segment.

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are located in PRC. As at December 31, 2023, all non-current assets were located in
the PRC.

Information about major customers

No single customer contributes over 10% of total revenue of the Group during the Track Record Period.

APPENDIX I ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT

– I-22 –

THIS DOCUMENT IS IN DRAFT FORM. THE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN IS INCOMPLETE AND IS SUBJECT TO CHANGE. THIS
DOCUMENT MUST BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE SECTION HEADED “WARNING” ON THE COVER OF THIS DOCUMENT.



8. OTHER INCOME

Year ended
December 31, 2023

RMB’000

Government grants related to
– Income (note) � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 10,418
– Assets � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 509
Interest income from banks � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 3,158
Others � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 117

14,202

Note: The amount represents various unconditional subsidies received from the PRC local government
authorities as incentives mainly for the Group’s research and development activities.

9. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

Year ended
December 31, 2023

RMB’000

Fair value change of financial assets at FVTPL � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 1,352
Net loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (40)

1,312

10. FINANCE COSTS

Year ended
December 31, 2023

RMB’000

Interest expense on lease liabilities � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 2,435
Interest expense on bank borrowings � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 4,769

7,204
Less: Interest expense capitalised in qualifying assets (note) � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (595)

6,609

Note: Interest expense capitalised arose on specific borrowings at the weighted average of its interest rates of
3.79% per annum during the year ended December 31, 2023.
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11. LOSS BEFORE TAX

Loss before tax over the Track Record Period has been arrived at after charging (crediting):

Year ended
December 31, 2023

RMB’000

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 39,378
Depreciation of right-of-use assets � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 7,559
Amortisation of intangible assets � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 1,039

Total depreciation and amortisation charge to profit or loss � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 47,976
Capitalised in inventories � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (11,900)

36,076

Auditor’s remuneration � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 967
Research and development costs recognized as an expense � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 283,159
Cost of inventories recognized as cost of sales (including write-down of inventories

amounting to RMB45,698,000) � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 56,891

Directors and supervisors’ remuneration � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 19,193
Other staff costs:

– Salaries and other benefits � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 93,855
– Retirement benefit scheme contributions � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 12,251
– Performance-based bonus � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 24,563
– Share-based payments � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 35,997

185,859
Capitalised in inventories � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (21,475)

Total staff costs charge to profit or loss � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 164,384

Impairment losses, under expected credit loss model, net of reversal� � � � � � � � � � �

Trade receivables � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 48
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT
Law, the tax rate of the Company and its PRC subsidiary is 25% during the Track Record Period.

Pursuant to Caishui 2018 circular No. 99, the Company and its PRC subsidiary enjoyed super deduction of
100% on qualifying research and development expenditures throughout the Track Record Period.

Income tax expenses for the Track Record Period can be reconciled to loss before tax per the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

Year ended
December 31, 2023

RMB’000

Loss before tax � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (424,741)

Tax at the applicable PRC tax rate of 25%� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (106,185)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 17,070
Effect of additional deduction on research and development expense� � � � � � � � � � � (49,757)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognized � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 125,996
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences not recognized � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 12,876

Income tax expense for the year � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � –

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

During the Track Record Period, directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration disclosed pursuant to the
applicable Listing Rules and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

Director’s fee
Salaries and

other benefits

Retirement
benefit scheme
contributions

Performance
based bonus (i)

Share-based
payments Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

For the year ended
December 31, 2023

Executive directors:
Mr. An (ii) � � � � � � � � � � – 2,476 68 419 7,604 10,567
Ms. Li Runxiang � � � � � � – 803 68 211 1,995 3,077
Mr. He Yiming � � � � � � � – 556 64 144 1,225 1,989
Non-executive directors:
Mr. Yu Jianling � � � � � � � – – – – – –
Mr. Cheng Qianwen � � � � – – – – – –
Independent non-executive

directors:
Mr. Li Xiangmin � � � � � � 120 – – – – 120
Mr. Chen Chenbei � � � � � 120 – – – – 120
Ms. Li Xiaoqing � � � � � � 120 – – – – 120
Supervisors:
Mr. Tao Hang � � � � � � � � – 762 68 203 1,095 2,128
Mr. Wang Shuguang � � � � – – – – – –
Mr. Feng Hao � � � � � � � � – 337 46 78 953 1,414

360 4,934 314 1,055 12,872 19,535
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Notes:

(i) Performance-based bonus is determined based on their duties and responsibilities of the relevant
individuals within the Group and the Group’s performance.

(ii) Mr. An is the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

The executive directors’ and Chief Executive’s emoluments shown above were paid for their services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and the Group during the Track Record Period.

Five highest paid individuals

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the five highest paid employees of the Group included 1 director of
the Company, details of whose emoluments are set out above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining 4
individuals, for the year ended December 31, 2023, are as follows:

Year ended
December 31, 2023

RMB’000

Salaries and other benefits� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 5,630
Performance based bonus � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 2,713
Retirement benefit scheme contributions � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 114
Share-based payments � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 9,081

17,538

The numbers of the five highest paid individuals (including directors of the Company) are within the following
bands (presented in Hong Kong Dollar (“HK$”)):

Year ended
December 31, 2023

No. of employees

HK$3,500,001-HK$4,000,000 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 1
HK$4,500,001-HK$5,000,000 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 1
HK$5,000,001-HK$5,500,000 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 1
HK$5,500,001-HK$6,000,000 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 1
HK$11,500,001-HK$12,000,000 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 1

5

During the Track Record Period, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the management of the Group or
the five highest paid employees of the Group as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office. None of the management of the Group waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the Track
Record Period.

During the year, certain non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employees were granted restricted
shares, in respect of their services to the Group under the restricted shares scheme of the Company. Details of the
restricted shares scheme are set out in Note 31.
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14. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following
data:

Year ended
December 31, 2023

RMB’000

Loss (RMB’000):
Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company for the purpose of

calculating basic loss per share � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (424,741)

Number of shares (’000):
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of basic loss per share � 360,000

Loss per share (RMB)
– Basic and diluted � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (1.18)

The basic loss per share is calculated based on the loss attributable to the owners of the Company and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares.

15. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was declared or paid by the Company in respect of the Track Record Period.

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The Group

Production
facilities Buildings

Electronic
devices,

furniture
and office
equipment

Motor
vehicles

Leasehold
improvements

Construction
in progress Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

COST
As at January 1, 2023� 291,181 102,817 7,333 1,867 14,087 118,119 535,404
Additions � � � � � � � � 11,738 1,743 153 864 148 286,854 301,500
Transfer from

construction in
progress � � � � � � � � 45,947 2,437 2,398 – 2,200 (52,982) –

Disposals � � � � � � � � (65) – (8) – – – (73)

As at December 31,
2023 � � � � � � � � � � 348,801 106,997 9,876 2,731 16,435 351,991 836,831

DEPRECIATION
As at January 1, 2023� 37,217 12,601 3,338 589 2,959 – 56,704
Provided for the year � 30,505 5,014 1,698 382 1,779 – 39,378
Eliminated on

disposals � � � � � � � (29) – (4) – – – (33)

As at December 31,
2023 � � � � � � � � � � 67,693 17,615 5,032 971 4,738 – 96,049

CARRYING
VALUES

As at December 31,
2023 � � � � � � � � � � 281,108 89,382 4,844 1,760 11,697 351,991 740,782
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The Company

Production
facilities Buildings

Electronic
devices,

furniture
and office
equipment

Motor
vehicles

Leasehold
improvements

Construction
in progress Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

COST
As at January 1, 2023� 263,870 102,817 6,763 1,156 3,701 117,877 496,184
Additions � � � � � � � � 11,738 1,743 152 – – 267,613 281,246
Transfer from

construction in
progress � � � � � � � � 29,479 2,437 1,583 – – (33,499) –

Disposals � � � � � � � � (65) – (8) – – – (73)

As at December 31,
2023 � � � � � � � � � � 305,022 106,997 8,490 1,156 3,701 351,991 777,357

DEPRECIATION
As at January 1, 2023� 35,412 12,601 3,238 421 1,431 – 53,103
Provided for the year � 27,143 5,014 1,502 220 506 – 34,385
Eliminated on

disposals � � � � � � � (29) – (4) – – – (33)

As at December 31,
2023 � � � � � � � � � � 62,526 17,615 4,736 641 1,937 – 87,455

CARRYING
VALUES

As at December 31,
2023 � � � � � � � � � � 242,496 89,382 3,754 515 1,764 351,991 689,902

The above items of property, plant and equipment, except for construction in progress, are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives after taking into account their residual values:

Useful lives Residual value

Production facilities� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 10 years 5%
Buildings � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 20 years 5%
Electronic devices, furniture and office equipment � � 5 years 5%
Motor vehicles � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 5 years 5%
Leasehold improvements � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � Over the shorter of the

relevant lease terms or
10 years

5%

As at December 31, 2023, buildings of RMB89,382,000 and construction in progress of RMB44,798,000 were
pledged to secure banking borrowings.
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17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

The Group

Leasehold lands Office buildings Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Carrying amount
As at January 1, 2023 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 36,479 39,184 75,663
Additions � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 9,290 17,082 26,372
Depreciation charge � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (843) (6,716) (7,559)

As at December 31, 2023 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 44,926 49,550 94,476

The Company

Leasehold lands

RMB’000

Carrying amount
As at January 1, 2023 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 36,479
Additions � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 9,290
Depreciation charge � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (843)

As at December 31, 2023 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 44,926

Year ended
December 31, 2023

RMB’000

Expenses relating to short-term leases � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 3,386

Total cash outflow for leases � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 10,708

During the Track Record Period, the Group leased various properties for its operating activities. Lease
contracts are entered into for fixed term of 3 to 6 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain
different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period,
the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for equipment and staff quarters. As at December 31, 2023,
the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term lease expense
disclosed above.

In addition, the Group owns several industrial buildings where its manufacturing facilities are primarily
located and office buildings. The Group is the registered owner of these property interests, including the underlying
leasehold lands. The Group has made lump sum payments upfront to government for leasehold lands. The Group has
obtained the land use right certificates for all such leasehold lands.

Restrictions or covenants on leases

As at December 31, 2023, the Group has pledged land use rights of RMB35,697,000 as collateral under the
Group’s borrowing arrangements.
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In addition, lease liabilities of RMB55,275,000 are recognized with related right-of-use assets of
RMB49,550,000. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased
assets that are held by the lessor. Except for land use rights, leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The Group and the Company

Patent
Development

costs
Computer
software Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

COST
As at January 1, 2023 � � � � � � � � � – 10,000 1,613 11,613
Additions � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 4,215 8,000 4,375 16,590

As at December 31, 2023 � � � � � � � 4,215 18,000 5,988 28,203

AMORTISATION
As at January 1, 2023 � � � � � � � � � – – 320 320
Provided for the year � � � � � � � � � � 166 – 873 1,039

As at December 31, 2023 � � � � � � � 166 – 1,193 1,359

CARRYING AMOUNT
As at December 31, 2023 � � � � � � � 4,049 18,000 4,795 26,844

The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. Such intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line
basis over the following periods:

Useful lives

Patent � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 10-20 years
Computer software � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 5 years
Development cost � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � Over the residual

useful life when
ready for use

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group capitalised in-license related payment amounting to
RMB8,000,000, with the goal of developing and commercialising a vaccine product. Such intangible assets have
finite useful lives and will start to amortise after ready for use.

As the intangible assets are not ready for use up to December 31, 2023 and the date of this report, the
management of the Group performed impairment testing annually, which was further disclosed in Note 19. In the
opinion of directors of the Company, no impairment loss was recognized in profit or loss during the year ended
December 31, 2023.

19. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON INTANGIBLE ASSETS NOT READY FOR USE

Impairment test

Development costs, which is intangible assets not yet ready for use, is tested impairment annually based on
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the intangible asset is related. The appropriate
cash-generating unit is at the pipeline level.

Impairment review on the development costs of the Group has been conducted by the management of the
Group by engaging an independent qualified professional valuer, PG Advisory, to estimate the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit at the end of each year. The address of PG Advisory is Room 2107-09, East Tower,
Hongshoufang, No. 1143, Xikang Road, Putuo District, Shanghai. For the purpose of impairment review, the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is determined based on value in use by using the discounted cash flow
approach.
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With the assistance of PG Advisory, the management determined the recoverable amount of the above
cash-generating unit based on the following approach and the key assumptions:

• The cash-generating unit will generate cash inflows starting from year 2028 based on the timing of
clinical development and regulatory approval, commercial ramp up to reach expected revenue potential
till year 2033, and up to the end of the exclusivity for the product; The management considers the length
forecast period is appropriate because it generally takes longer for a biopharma company to generate
positive cash flows, compared to companies in other industries, especially when the related products are
under clinical trial. Hence, the management believes that a forecast period for the cash generating unit
longer than five years is justifiable and consistent with industry practice;

• The expected market penetration rate was based on the expected selling conditions considering the
features of marketing and technology development;

• The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant products that would
be considered by market participants; and

• The expected success rate of commercialization by reference to practices of pharmaceutical industries,
development of technologies and related regulations from administrations.

The key parameters used for recoverable amount calculations are as follows:

As at
December 31, 2023

Expected annual growth rates till 2033 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 5%-43%
Pre-tax discount rate � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 15.2%
Long-term growth rate � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 2%

The revenue growth rate for the forecast period and budgeted gross margin were determined by the
management based on their expectation for market and product development.

Based on the result of the development costs impairment testing, the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit exceeded its carrying amount as at December 31, 2023. Thus, no impairment is noted.

The recoverable amount is significantly above the carrying amount of the above cash-generating unit.
Management believes that any reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions would not result in
impairment.

20. DEFERRED TAXATION

The Group

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of financial position, certain deferred tax assets
and liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting
purposes:

As at
December 31, 2023

RMB’000

Deferred tax assets � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 12,388
Deferred tax liabilities � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (12,388)

–
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The following are the major deferred tax balances recognized and movements thereon during the Track Record
Period:

Right-of-use assets Lease liabilities Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

As at January 1, 2023 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (9,796) 9,796 –
(Charged) credited to profit or loss � � � � � � � � � (2,592) 2,592 –

As at December 31, 2023 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (12,388) 12,388 –

As at December 31, 2023, the Group has unused tax losses of RMB1,257,213 and deductible temporary
differences of RMB78,700,000. No deferred tax asset has been recognized in respect of the tax losses or temporary
differences due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

The unused tax losses will be carried forward and expire in years as follows:

As at
December 31, 2023

RMB’000

2024 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 56,637
2025 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 130,555
2026 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 258,911
2027 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 307,131
2028 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 503,979

1,257,213

21. INVENTORIES

The Group

As at
December 31, 2023

RMB’000

Raw materials � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 38,278
Work in progress � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 3,438
Finished goods � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 46,242

87,958
Less: allowance � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (46,140)

41,818

The Company

As at
December 31, 2023

RMB’000

Raw materials � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 35,572
Work in progress � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 3,438
Finished goods � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 46,242

85,252
Less: allowance � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (46,132)

39,120
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22. TRADE RECEIVABLES

The Group and the company

As at
December 31, 2023

RMB’000

Trade receivables from contracts with customers � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 73,643
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (48)

73,595

As at January 1, 2023, trade receivables from contracts with customers amounted to Nil.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables (net of allowance for credit losses) presented based on
dates of delivery of goods:

As at
December 31, 2023

RMB’000

1-90 days � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 67,017
91-180 days� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 6,578

73,595

Details of the assessment on the provision of the allowance for expected credit loss of the trade receivables
of the Group and the Company as at December 31, 2023 are set out in Note 35.

23. OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

The Group

As at
December 31, 2023

RMB’000

Other receivables
Value added tax recoverable� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 32,978
Rental deposits� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 2,441
Others � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 1,590

37,009
Prepayments for
Acquisition of long-term assets � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 17,031
Raw material purchase � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 2,030
Service fee � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 1,904
Others � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 1,194

22,159
59,168

Less: non-current assets � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (44,396)

Current assets � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 14,772
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The Company

As at
December 31, 2023

RMB’000

Other Receivables
Amounts due from a subsidiary (note) � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 89,676
Value added tax recoverable� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 24,924
Rental deposits� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 97
Others � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 1,590

116,287

Prepayments for
Acquisition of long-term assets � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 16,982
Raw material purchase � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 2,026
Service fee � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 1,675
Others � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 1,084

21,767
138,054

Less: Non-current assets � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (42,004)

Current assets � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 96,050

Note: The amounts due from a subsidiary were non-trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

Details of the assessment on the provision of the allowance for credit loss of the other receivables of the Group
and the Company as at December 31, 2023 are set out in Note 35.

24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

The Group and the Company

As at
December 31, 2023

RMB’000

Wealth management products (note) � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 10,020

Note: During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group entered into contracts of wealth management
products with a bank with maturity term within 4 months. The returns of the wealth management
products are determined by reference to the performance of the underlying instruments in the currency
market, therefore they are recognized as financial assets at FVTPL. The weighted average return rate
is 2.52% for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Details of the fair value measurement of the financial assets at FVTPL are set out in Note 35.
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25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS/TIME DEPOSITS/PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

Cash and cash equivalents include short term deposits for the purpose of meeting the Group’s short term cash
commitments, which carry interest at market rates range from 0.20% to 0.30%.

Time deposits amount to RMB22,236,000 and carry fixed rates of 3.99% per annum with original maturity of
three years.

Pledged bank deposits carry fixed interest rate of 0.20% and represent deposits pledged to banks to secure
banking facilities granted to the Group. Deposits amounting to RMB5,486,000 have been pledged to secure notes
payables and are therefore classified as current assets. The pledged bank deposits will be released upon the settlement
of relevant notes payables.

Details of the assessment on the provision of the expected credit loss of the cash and cash equivalents, time
deposits and pledged bank deposits of the Group and the Company as at December 31, 2023 are set out in Note 35.

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLE

The Group

As at
December 31, 2023

RMB’000

Payables for raw material and service fee � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 83,876

Notes payables � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 5,486
Payables for acquisition of property, plant and equipment � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 109,909
Payroll and welfare payable � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 38,549
Payables for marketing activities � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 19,217
Deposits from suppliers � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 18,032
Other tax payable � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 863
Others � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 15,618

291,550

The average credit period on purchases of materials and services of the Group is mainly 30 days. The following
is an aged analysis of the trade payables, presented based on the invoice date, at the end of the reporting period:

As at
December 31, 2023

RMB’000

1-30 days � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 81,583
31 days to 1 year � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 2,293

83,876
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The Company

As at
December 31, 2023

RMB’000

Payables for raw material and service fee � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 61,169

Notes payables � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 5,486
Payables for acquisition of property, plant and equipment � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 109,017
Payables for marketing activities � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 19,217
Payroll and welfare payable � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 22,664
Deposits from suppliers � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 18,032
Other tax payable � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 850
Others � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 15,174

251,609

The average credit period on purchases of materials and services of the Group is mainly 30 days. The following
is an aged analysis of the trade payables, presented based on the invoice date, at the end of each reporting period:

As at
December 31, 2023

RMB’000

1-60 days � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 59,473
61 days to 1 year � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 1,696

61,169

27. REFUND LIABILITIES

The Group and the company

The Group recognizes a refund liability if the Group expects it would not be entitled to consideration of all
goods delivered arising from the rights granted by the Group to the customers to return some or all the goods
purchased. Upon revenue recognition, the Group estimates the future sales return of the goods sold and a
corresponding adjustment to revenue is recognized for those products expected to be returned.

For a sale of products with a right to return products, the Group recognizes all of the following:

(a) revenue for the transferred products in the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled. Therefore, revenue would not be recognized for the products expected to be returned; and

(b) a refund liability.

The right to returned goods asset represents the Group’s right to recover products from customers where
customers exercise their right of return under the Group’s return policy.

As at
December 31, 2023

RMB’000

Refund liabilities
Arising from right of return � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 13,259
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28. BORROWINGS

The Group

As at
December 31, 2023

RMB’000

Borrowings from banks – unsecured� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 256,897
Borrowings from banks – secured � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 109,252

366,149
Less: current portion � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (217,887)

Non-current portion � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 148,262
Analysed as:
Fixed interest rate � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 128,087
Variable interest rate � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 238,062

366,149

Maturity of borrowings
The carrying amounts of the borrowings are repayable:
Within one year � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 217,887
Within a period of more than two years but not exceeding five years � � � � � � � � � � 124,000
Within a period of more than five years � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 24,262

366,149

The ranges of effective interest rates on the Group’s fixed and variable-rate borrowings are as follows:

As at
December 31, 2023

Effective interest rate:
Fixed rate borrowings � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 3.20%-3.65%
Variable rate borrowings � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 3.20%-4.10%

The Company

As at
December 31, 2023

RMB’000

Borrowings from banks – unsecured� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 256,897
Borrowings from banks – secured � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 104,262

361,159
Less: current portion � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (212,897)

Non-current portion � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 148,262
Analysed as:
Fixed interest rate � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 123,097
Variable interest rate � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 238,062

361,159
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As at
December 31, 2023

RMB’000

Maturity of borrowings
The carrying amounts of the borrowings are repayable:
Within one year � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 212,897
Within a period of more than two years but not exceeding five years � � � � � � � � � � 124,000
Within a period of more than five years � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 24,262

361,159

The ranges of effective interest rates on the Group’s fixed and variable-rate borrowings are as follows:

As at
December 31, 2023

Effective interest rate:
Fixed rate borrowings � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 3.20%-3.65%
Variable rate borrowings � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 3.35%-4.10%

As of December 31, 2023, the secured loans of RMB104,262,000 were secured against certain of the
Company’s buildings and construction in progress and leasehold lands with carrying amount of RMB134,180,000 and
RMB35,697,000, respectively. Secured loan of RMB4,990,000 of the subsidiary of the Company was guaranteed by
Mr. An.

29. LEASE LIABILITIES

The Group

As at
December 31, 2023

RMB’000

Lease liabilities payable
Within 1 year� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 6,467
Within a period of more than one year but not exceeding two years � � � � � � � � � � � 6,340
Within a period of more than two years but not exceeding five years � � � � � � � � � � 24,950
Within a period of more than five years � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 17,518

55,275
Less: Amount due for settlement within 1 year shown as current liabilities � � � � � � � (6,467)

Amount due for settlement after 1 year shown as non-current liabilities � � � � � � � � � 48,808

For the years ended December 31, 2023, the incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities range from
4.30% to 4.65%.
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30. DEFERRED INCOME

The Group and the Company

2023

RMB’000

Government grants
– Asset related grants (note) � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 30,240

Assets related

RMB’000

Movements of such grants:
As at January 1, 2023 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 29,749
Grants received � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 1,000
Credited to profit or loss� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � (509)

As at December 31, 2023 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 30,240

Note: The asset-related grants are the subsidies received from the government for the purpose of compensation
for purchase of the Group’s property, plant and equipment.

31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Restricted shares scheme

In recognition of the contributions of certain eligible directors and employees, two employee stock ownership
platforms were established in August 2017, namely 泰州慧融企業管理諮詢服務合夥企業(有限合夥)/Taizhou
Huirong Enterprise Management Consulting Service Partnership (Limited Partnership) (“Taizhou Huirong”) and 泰
州慧隆企業管理諮詢服務合夥企業(有限合夥) Taizhou Huilong Enterprise Management Consulting Service
Partnership (Limited Partnership) (“Taizhou Huilong”), to hold the Company’s share capital of RMB10,000,000, to
implement first-batch restricted shares award scheme (“2017 Employee Incentive Scheme”).

Under the 2017 Employee Incentive Scheme, eligible directors and employees shall subscribe for partnership
interest of employee stock ownership platforms at a consideration price of RMB1 or RMB1.5 for RMB1 partnership
interest and indirectly hold 16,267,000 incentive shares of the Company after the joint stock company conversion.

Details of the restricted shares issued under the 2017 Employee Incentive Scheme are as follows:

Grant date
Amount of

Registered capital Grantee
Vesting schedule defined in

contract term

RMB’000

August 29, 2017 � � � � � � � 810 A director and employees 100% five years after
grant date

August 29, 2017 � � � � � � � 4,660 A director and employees 100% on grant date
July 18, 2019 � � � � � � � � � 2,180 A director and employees 100% five years after

grant date
July 18, 2019 � � � � � � � � � 2,350 Directors and employees 100% on grant date
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In December 2020, an employee stock ownership platform was established, namely 泰州慧達企業管理諮詢服
務合夥企業(有限合夥)/Taizhou Huida Enterprise Management Consulting Service Partnership (Limited Partnership)
(“Taizhou Huida”), together with three employee stock ownership nested platforms, namely 泰州慧寧企業管理諮詢
服務合夥企業(有限合夥)/Taizhou Huining Enterprise Management Consulting Service Partnership (Limited
Partnership) (“Taizhou Huining”), 泰州慧新企業管理諮詢服務合夥企業(有限合夥)/Taizhou Huixin Enterprise
Management Consulting Service Partnership (Limited Partnership) (“Taizhou Huixin”), 泰州慧嘉企業管理諮詢服務
合夥企業(有限合夥)/Taizhou Huijia Enterprise Management Consulting Service Partnership (Limited Partnership)
(“Taizhou Huijia”), to hold the Company’s share capital of RMB11,500,000, to implement second-batch restricted
shares award scheme (“2020 Employee Incentive Scheme”).

Under the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme, eligible employees shall subscribe for partnership interest of
Taizhou Huida and the nested platforms at a consideration of RMB3.964 for RMB1 partnership interest and indirectly
hold 18,707,000 incentive shares of the Company after the joint stock company conversion.

Details of the restricted shares issued under the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme are as follows:

Grant date
Amount of

registered capital Grantee
Vesting schedule defined in

contract term

RMB’000

June 1, 2021 � � � � � � � � � 1,750 Directors and employees 100% three years after
grant date

September 1, 2021 � � � � � � 4,110 Directors and employees 100% three years after
grant date

May 31, 2022 � � � � � � � � � 1,500 A director and employees 100% three years after
grant date

December 15, 2022 � � � � � 2,480 Directors and employees 100% three years after
grant date

March 10, 2023� � � � � � � � 1,280 Employees 100% three years after
grant date

April 1, 2023 � � � � � � � � � 130 Employees 100% three years after
grant date

May 4, 2023 � � � � � � � � � 1,040 Directors and employees 100% three years after
grant date

Other details of 2017 Employee Incentive Scheme and 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme were included in
“Appendix VI Statutory and General Information” in this document.

The Company was converted to a joint stock company on February 22, 2022, 360,000,000 ordinary shares with
par value of RMB1 each were issued and allotted to the respective shareholders of the Company according to the
paid-in capital registered under these shareholders on that day and following table reflects the impact of the
conversion. One registered share capital before the conversion represented 1.63 shares of the joint stock company.

The consideration was fully settled.
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Set out below are details of the movements of the outstanding restricted shares during the year ended
December 31, 2023:

Outstanding
as at

January 1,
2023 Granted Vested Forfeited

Outstanding
as at

December 31,
2023

Fair value per
share at the

date of grant

’000 ’000 ’000 ’000 ’000 RMB

Director
July 18, 2019� � � � � � � � � 65 – – – 65 3.029
June 1, 2021 � � � � � � � � � 228 – – – 228 11.637
September 1, 2021 � � � � � 2,684 – – – 2,684 11.637
May 31, 2022 � � � � � � � � 325 – – – 325 11.637
December 15, 2022 � � � � � 439 – – – 439 11.637
May 4, 2023 � � � � � � � � � – 602 – – 602 11.637
Employee
July 18, 2019� � � � � � � � � 1,773 – – 81 1,692 3.029
June 1, 2021 � � � � � � � � � 2,229 – – 358 1,871 11.637
September 1, 2021 � � � � � 3,693 – – 439 3,254 11.637
May 31, 2022 � � � � � � � � 2,115 – – 98 2,017 11.637
December 15, 2022 � � � � � 3,595 – – 146 3,449 11.637
March 10, 2023 � � � � � � � – 2,082 – 33 2,049 11.637
April 1, 2023 � � � � � � � � � – 211 – – 211 11.637
May 4, 2023 � � � � � � � � � – 1,090 – – 1,090 11.637

Total � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 17,146 3,985 – 1,155 19,977

Weighted average fair
value per share (RMB)� 10.71 11.64 – 11.03 10.88

Fair value of restricted share

The Group used the income approach and back-solve method to determine the underlying equity fair value of
the Company. The fair value of shares at grant date was valued by directors of the Company with reference to
valuation reports carried out by an independent qualified professional valuer, PG Advisory, whose address is
disclosed in Note 19. The fair value of restricted share at grant date was determined to be in the range from
RMB3.029 to RMB11.637, by referring to the equity fair value of the Company.

The Group recognized total expense of approximately RMB48,527,000 for the year ended December 31, 2023
in relation to restricted shares.

32. SHARE CAPITAL

Issued and fully paid:

Numbers of shares Share capital

’000 RMB’000

As at January 1, 2023 and December 31, 2023 � � � � � � � � � � 360,000 360,000
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33. CAPITAL RESERVE OF THE COMPANY

Share premium
Share-based

payments reserve
Accumulated

Losses Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

As at January 1, 2023� � � � � � � � � 614,930 50,172 (189,871) 475,231
Loss and total comprehensive

expense for the year � � � � � � � � � – – (354,597) (354,597)
Recognition of equity settled share-

based payments � � � � � � � � � � � � – 48,527 – 48,527

As at December 31, 2023 � � � � � � � 614,930 98,699 (544,468) 169,161

34. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at
December 31, 2023

RMB’000

Capital expenditure in respect of the acquisition of property, plant and equipment in
the Historical Financial Information contracted for but not provided � � � � � � � � � 175,813

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a. Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximizing the return to shareholders through the optimization of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes borrowings and lease liabilities
disclosed in Notes 25 and 26 respectively, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to the Company,
comprising share capital and reserves. The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a continuous
basis taking into account the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The Group will balance
its overall capital structure through the issue of new shares and bank borrowing, if necessary.

b. Categories of financial instruments

The Group

As at
December 31, 2023

RMB’000

Financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 150,666
Financial assets at FVTPL � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 10,020

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 618,285
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The Company

As at
December 31, 2023

RMB’000

Financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 234,088
Financial assets at FVTPL � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 10,020

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 587,199

c. Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial assets and liabilities include trade receivable, other receivables, financial assets
at FVTPL, pledged bank deposits, time deposits, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other payables and borrowings.
Details of these financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include market risk (interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
management of the Group manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
in a timely and effective manner.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate borrowings, pledged bank deposits,
time deposits and lease liabilities (see Notes 28, 25 and 29 for details). The Group is also exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank balances and variable-rate borrowings (see Notes 25 and 28 for
details). The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of interest rates on bank
balances and borrowings. As the management considers that the exposure of cash flow interest rate risk arising from
variable rate bank balances and variable-rate borrowings is insignificant, therefore no sensitivity analysis on such risk
has been prepared.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties default on their contractual obligations resulting
in financial losses to the Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to trade receivables,
other receivables, pledged bank deposits, time deposits and cash and cash equivalents. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets.

Trade receivables

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has developed and maintained the Group’s credit risk gradings to
categorise exposures according to their degree of risk of default.

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in IFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance
at lifetime ECL. The ECL on trade receivable are assessed collectively, based on the internal credit rating and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort at the end of each period. The expected credit loss rate of trade receivables as at December 31, 2023 was
RMB48,000.

Details of the quantitative disclosures are set out below in this note.

Other receivables

For other receivables and deposits, the management makes periodic individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables and deposits based on historical settlement records, past experience, and also
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking information. The
management believes that there are no significant increase in credit risk of these amounts since initial recognition
and the Group provided impairment based on 12m ECL. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group assessed
the ECL for other receivables and deposits are insignificant and thus no loss allowance is recognized.
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Cash and cash equivalents, time deposits and pledged bank deposits

The credit risk on cash and cash equivalents, time deposits and pledged bank deposits is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies. The Group assessed
12m ECL for cash and cash equivalents, time deposits and pledged bank deposits by reference to information relating
to probability of default and loss given default of the respective credit rating grades published by external credit
rating agencies. Based on the average loss rates, the 12m ECL on cash and cash equivalents, time deposits and
pledged bank deposits is considered to be insignificant and therefore no loss allowance was recognized.

The Group and The Companies’ internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the following categories:

Internal credit rating Description Trade receivables Other financial assets

Low risk � � � � � � � The counterparty has a low risk of
default and does not have any past
due amounts

Lifetime ECL – not
credit-impaired

12-month ECL

Watch list � � � � � � Debtor frequently repays after due
dates but usually settle in full

Lifetime ECL – not
credit-impaired

12-month ECL

Doubtful � � � � � � � There has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial
recognition through information
developed internally or external
resources

Lifetime ECL – not
credit-impaired

Lifetime ECL – not
credit-impaired

Loss � � � � � � � � � � There is evidence indicating the asset
is credit-impaired

Lifetime ECL –
credit-impaired

Lifetime ECL – credit
impaired

Write-off � � � � � � � There is evidence indicating that the
debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery

Amount is written off Amount is written off

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s and the Company’s financial assets which are
subject to ECL assessment:

The Group

Notes
Internal credit

rating
12-month or
lifetime ECL

2023 Gross
carrying amount

RMB’000

Financial assets at amortised cost
Cash and cash equivalents � � � � � � � � 25 Low risk 12-month ECL 45,318
Time deposits � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 25 Low risk 12-month ECL 22,236
Pledged bank deposits � � � � � � � � � � 25 Low risk 12-month ECL 5,486
Trade receivables � � � � � � � � � � � � � 22 Low risk Lifetime ECL

(collective
assessment)

73,643

Other receivables � � � � � � � � � � � � � 23 Low risk 12-month ECL 4,031
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The Company

Notes
Internal credit

rating
12-month or
lifetime ECL

2023 Gross
carrying amount

RMB’000

Financial assets at amortised cost
Cash and cash equivalents � � � � � � � � 25 Low risk 12-month ECL 41,407
Time deposit � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 25 Low risk 12-month ECL 22,236
Pledged bank deposits � � � � � � � � � � 25 Low risk 12-month ECL 5,486
Trade receivables � � � � � � � � � � � � � 22 Low risk Lifetime ECL

(collective
assessment)

73,643

Other receivables � � � � � � � � � � � � � 23 Low risk 12-month ECL 91,363

Movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognized for trade receivables in accordance with the simplified
approach set out in IFRS 9 as at December 31, 2023:

The Group and the Company

Gross carrying amount

2024

Internal credit rating Average loss rate Trade receivables

RMB’000

Low risk� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 0.07% 73,643

The Group and the Company

Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired)

RMB’000

As at January 1, 2023� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � –
Impairment losses recognized � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 48

As at December 31, 2023 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 48

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management of the Group monitors the utilization of bank borrowings and ensure compliance with loan
covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities and lease
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities according to the
earliest date on which the Group is required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the
extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived based on management’s best estimates
from interest rate at the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration interest rate curve, if available.
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The Group

Weighted
average

interest rate

On demand or
less than
one year

One to
five years

More than
5 years

Total
undiscounted

cash flows
Total carrying

amounts

% RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

2023
Trade and other payables � – 291,550 – – 291,550 291,550

Borrowing� � � � � � � � � � � 3.50 227,066 134,080 29,940 391,086 366,149
– Fixed interest rate� � � � � 3.41 130,186 – – 130,186 128,087
– Variable interest rate � � � 3.55 96,880 134,080 29,940 260,900 238,062
Lease liabilities � � � � � � � 4.56 8,410 37,562 18,560 64,532 55,275

527,026 171,642 48,500 747,168 712,974

The Company

Weighted
average

interest rate

On demand or
less than
one year

One to
five years

More than
5 years

Total
undiscounted

cash flows
Total carrying

amounts

% RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

2023
Trade and other payables � – 251,609 – – 251,609 251,609

Borrowing� � � � � � � � � � � 3.50 222,065 134,080 29,940 386,085 361,159
– Fixed interest rate� � � � � 3.41 125,185 – – 125,185 123,097
– Variable interest rate � � � 3.55 96,880 134,080 29,940 260,900 238,062

473,674 134,080 29,940 637,694 612,768

d. Fair value measurements of financial instruments

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are measured at fair value for financial reporting purposes. The
directors of the Company are responsible to determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period. The
following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets are determined (in particular,
the valuation technique(s) and inputs used), as well as the level of the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value
measurements are categorised (Level 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
is observable.

• Level 1 fair value measurements are based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical
assets or liabilities;

• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e.
derived from prices); and

• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the
asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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Financial assets
Fair value as at

December 31, 2023
Fair value
hierarchy Valuation technique and key inputs

RMB’000

Financial assets at FVTPL � � � � � � � 10,020 Level 2 Quoted bid prices in an
active market.

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 during the Track Record Period.

(ii) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value on a recurring
basis

The management of the Group considers the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the Historical Financial Information approximate their fair value.

36. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The employees of the Group are members of the state-managed retirement benefits schemes operated by
government. The Group is required to contribute a certain percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefits
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefits schemes is to
make the specified contributions.

The total cost charged to profit or loss in respect of the above-mentioned schemes amounted to approximately
RMB12,565,000 for the year ended December 31, 2023.

37. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash
flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

Borrowings Lease liabilities Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

As at January 1, 2023 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 19,266 43,080 62,346
Net financing cash flows� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 342,114 (6,948) 335,166
New leases entered � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � – 17,082 17,082
Lease modification � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � – (374) (374)
Interest expenses � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 4,769 2,435 7,204

As at December 31, 2023 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 366,149 55,275 421,424

38. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group entered into a new lease agreement for property for 6
years. On the lease commencement date, the Group recognized right-of-use assets amounting to RMB17,082,000 and
lease liabilities amounting to RMB17,082,000 for the year ended December 31, 2023.

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

There is no transaction with the related parties during the year ended December 31, 2023, and also no material
outstanding balance with related parties as at December 31, 2023.
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Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of the directors of the Company and key management of the Group during the year ended
December 31, 2023 were as follows:

Year ended
December 31, 2023

RMB’000

Director’s fee � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 360
Salaries and other benefits� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 6,504
Performance based bonus (note) � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 1,565
Retirement benefit scheme contributions � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 428
Share-based payments � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 13,678

22,535

Note: Performance based bonus is determined based on their duties and responsibilities of the relevant
individuals within the Group and the Group’s performance.

40. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

The Group’s borrowings and notes payables had been secured by the pledge of the Group’s assets and the
carrying amounts of the respective assets are as follows:

As at
December 31, 2023

RMB’000

Property, plant and equipment � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 134,180
Pledged bank deposits � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 5,486
Right-of-use assets � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 35,697

175,363

41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARY

During the Track Record Period and as at the date of this report, the Company has direct shareholding interests
in the following subsidiary:

Equity interest attributable to the Company as at

Name of subsidiary

Place of
incorporation/
establishment,

date of incorporation Registered capital
December 31,

2023
the date of
this report Principal activities

Directly held:
Yither biotech

(Shanghai)
Co., Ltd. � � �

Shanghai,
July 2, 2020

RMB50,000,000 100% 100% Research,
development and
commercialization
of vaccine

The subsidiary now comprising the Group is limited liability company and have adopted December 31 as their
financial year end.

Note: The statutory financial statements of Yither biotech (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. for the year ended December
31, 2023 was prepared in accordance with Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises of the PRC
and were audited by容誠會計師事務所(特殊普通合夥)/RSM China Certified Public Accountants LLP*,
a certified public accountant registered in the PRC.
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42. SUBSEQUENT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

No audited financial statements of the Group, the Company or its subsidiary have been prepared in respect of
any period subsequent to the end of the Track Record Period and up to the date of this report.

43. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There are no material subsequent events undertaken by the Company or by the Group after December 31, 2023
and up to the date of this report.
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